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1. [bookmark: _Toc433122976]Introduction

NHS England wishes to commission an evaluation of the wellbeing service in an immigration removal centre.  The evaluation must be independent, and must be undertaken on the basis of the widest possible comparison with current practices and services both nationally and internationally, which may have been identified through literature searches. 

The evaluation required is not a form of research, but a service review.  The evaluator will not have direct contact with service users, but instead will have access to data gathered by the service provider  which will include comments made by service users. The service specification is attached as an appendix to this document, for information.

2. [bookmark: _Toc433122977]Background

There are ten immigration removal centres (IRCs) in England.  An IRC is a place where people are held during a period when their right to remain in the country is not proven, and it is intended that they return to their country of origin (although this may not be the outcome).   Immigration detention may cause people to be anxious, or depressed, or to develop other mental health issues.  To preserve wellbeing and prevent deterioration  of mental health, NHS England (East)  commissioned a wellbeing service.  This has operated since May 2016 and NHS England (East) wishes to commission an evaluation of the service prior to tendering its reprovision.  The population of the IRC for which the service is provided is mainly female.
3. [bookmark: _Toc433122978]Content and scope of report

The evaluation will address the following questions:
1. Is the service specification considered to be appropriate to achieve the objectives of the service?
2. Are the tools used at entry and exit of the service appropriate for understanding wellbeing? Are other tools in use in comparable services that could be considered for use at this IRC?
3. Has the service demonstrated that it is effective in preserving or improving wellbeing?
4. What practices or services in comparable environments should be considered when the service is re tendered?
5. What key performance indicators should be used to understand performance of a well being service?
6. How can support for speakers of other languages be offered?  Does the service function effectively, given that it is only provided in English?
7. What proposals, if any, can be made about the future development of the wellbeing service?

4. [bookmark: _Toc433122979]Deliverables

The author must provide, within their bid, a description of how they intend to answer questions 1-6 in section 3 above, and a project plan with project milestones and their proposed way of managing risks to delivery of the report. Bids must be received by 17.00 on 12/1/18.

Bids will be evaluated  and the outcome will be notified to all bidders  by 17.00 on 17/1/18.
[bookmark: _GoBack]
The author must provide the first draft of the report by  2/3/18. Comments on the first draft will be sent to the author within 1 week of receipt and a final draft will be required by 16/3/18.

   
The bid, initial and final drafts must be delivered to claire.weston2@nhs.net  in Word format.
[bookmark: _Toc433122980]
5. Timetable

The opportunity will be advertised in w/c 11/12/2017 and bids must be submitted by 17.00 12/1/2018 to claire.weston2@nhs.net.  NHS England will notify all bidders of the outcome by 17/1/18. 

Bidders should request a receipt of their bid, and if this is not received by 17.00 on 13/1/18, they should phone 0113  825 2814  to request this.
 
Bidders must be in a position to provide a first draft of the report(s) they have been appointed to provide on the date stated above.   Bidders are expected to notify the commissioner of progress towards delivery of the initial and final drafts.

6. [bookmark: _Toc433122981]Price and Payment Terms

The maximum value available for this piece of work is £10K.

Bidders should submit their quote for the provision of the report as described above.  Any bid which does not clearly state the price for the entire report , comprising all elements set out above, will be rejected.   In formulating the bid price, bidders are asked to show their daily rate and the number of days consumed in each element of the preparation of the report.

Bid prices should be the fully inclusive price for producing the evaluation to the specification set out in this document.   Should the final draft of report fail to fully meet the requirements of the service specification or deadline (unless due to factors outside of the Provider’s control) NHS England reserves the right to withhold up to 10% of the total contract value. 

An invoice may be submitted with the final draft of the report . NHS England’s terms and conditions will apply.

[bookmark: _Toc433122982]Evaluation and Scoring

a) Please submit a bid using the template, completing each section.

b) Please provide details of similar evaluations  which you have previously undertaken, and be prepared to provide these documents to NHS England on request.

c) Please ensure that the bid to provide the report is in the same name as the author of the report.  The purchase order will be raised in the name of the bidder and the invoice must correspond to the name on the purchase order and the bid.

Applications will evaluated and scored as follows:

Scoring Methodology
	
	

	0 
	The bidder is unable to fulfil the requirement or no response is received

	1
	The bidder is only able to partly fulfil the requirement

	2
	The Provider is able to fulfil the requirement

	3
	The Provider exceeds fulfilment of the requirement

	4
	The Provider excels in the fulfilment of the requirement

	
	



	Quality – weighted at 60% of total score


	The bidder has demonstrated that:

	Review Deliverables
	1. All the objectives and products contained within the specification will be delivered.

	
	2. Proposals for using different methodologies are supported by a clear rationale for doing so. 

	
	3. Project challenges have been identified and suitable mitigation action proposed.

	Capability
	4. The have experience of undertaking a similar piece of work, delivered to timescale.


	
	5. Suitably competent staff who have relevant experience will be available.


	
	6. The have an understanding and application of, data confidentiality and information governance issues.


	
	7. They can deliver the report within the project deadline with a realistic timetable.


	Price – Weighted at 40% of total score

	Price
	Cost will be evaluated by the bid with the lowest score scoring 100 and all other bidder prices being expressed as an inverse proportion.

For example.
Bid A – Price  £30,000 = scores 100
Bid B – Price  £40,000 = scores 75
Bid C  - Price  £50,000 = scores 60
Bid D – Price  £60,000 = scores 50




[bookmark: _MON_1574579749]Template for responses:               


Service specification:     

Checklist for bidders

This check list may be helpful in developing your bid but may not be exhaustive:

· Each bid has ‘Evaluation of IRC wellbeing service Jan 2018’  as a foot note on each page
· Price for each bid has been provided, is net of VAT and is not subject to any proposed discounting.
· Each bid excludes the cost of making a presentation to the commissioner or their representatives, as this is not required
· Each bid states that the report will be delivered in Word.
· Each bid states the daily rate for each member of the team and the number of days consumed in each element of the task
· Each bid comes from the same organisation as the organisation which will submit the invoice for the report once complete, and the name of the invoicing organisation is clearly given.


-ends-
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Name of bidder (this will be the name of the organisation in whose name the purchase order will be raised; invoicing must therefore be the same as this name:_______________________________



Evaluation of well being service at Yarl’s Wood IRC



Quality



		1) A) Please describe to us how you will ensure that the evaluation will cover each of the following questions: 



1. Is the service specification considered to be appropriate to achieve the objectives of the service?

2. Are the tools used at entry and exit of the service appropriate for understanding wellbeing? Are other tools in use in comparable services that could be considered for use at this IRC?

3. Has the service demonstrated that it is effective in preserving or improving wellbeing?

4. What practices or services in comparable environments should be considered when the service is re tendered?

5. What key performance indicators should be used to understand performance of a well being service?

6. How can support for speakers of other languages be offered?  Does the service function effectively, given that it is only provided in English?

7. What proposals, if any, can be made about the future development of the wellbeing service?





		









		B) If you believe that you will deliver added value over and above the service specification, please describe to us in what way you believe you will exceed the minimum requirement.





		










		2) Please confirm that proposals for using different methodologies are supported by a clear rationale for doing so, and state the rationale below.



		
















		3) Please note what project challenges you have identified and what mitigations you propose for them.



		









		4) Please state here your experience of undertaking a similar piece of work, delivered to timescale.



		












		5) Please give the names and qualifications of suitably competent and experienced staff who will contribute to the report, and their roles. Indicate to us how their qualifications and experience are relevant to the authoring of the report.



       Please also state how you will source clinical advice and guidance, should it be required.



       Preference will be given to bidders who can clearly evidence experience of evaluating services      and service specifications  which are comparable to this service.  



		












		6) Please give details of your understanding and application of, data confidentiality and information governance issues.



		












		7) Please confirm that you can deliver the report within the project deadline with a realistic timetable.





		
















Price

		8) Please confirm that your price is expressed net of VAT, and is fully inclusive of all costs associated with this piece of work





		Yes/no





		9) Please provide details of your price, broken down according the days which each contributor will be deployed, and their daily rate, and any other costs





		







		10) Please confirm that the price for each report is not subject to any discounting proposal.



		Yes/no









Thank you.



Please submit to Claire Weston  no later than the closing date given in the service specification.


image2.emf
Service to improve  psychological well @Yarls wood v 0_4.pdf


Service to improve psychological well @Yarls wood v 0_4.pdf


 


Service Specification No. 2015_001 


Service Service to improve psychological well-being and 


resilience amongst detainees at Yarl’s Wood Immigration 


Removal Centre (IRC) 


Commissioner Lead Claire Weston, NHS England, head of health and justice 


(East) 


Provider Lead  


Period 2 years (24 months) 


Date of Review Month 9, month 12 and month 24 


 


1. Population Needs 


 


1.1  National/local context and evidence base 
 


Mental distress has higher prevalence among detainees compared with the general population 
1
, with a suggestion that there is increased risk for asylum seekers than for refugees regarding 


poor psychological well-being
2
. Risk factors associated with poor mental health include being a 


woman, older age, having experienced trauma, lacking social support, and the anticipation of 


future stress (e.g. stress associated post migration)
3
. It is also suggested that a history of poor 


employment and low education is related to adverse health outcomes in people who have 


experienced trauma
 4
,
5
.  


 


Yarl’s Wood is immigration removal centre accommodating adult women and adult family groups 


awaiting immigration clearance. The population of the centre is 410 when at full capacity and the 


majority of the population is female. There is also a family unit for families where all individuals are 


aged over 18, and a small male unit known as Bunting Unit which is a short term holding facility 


(men are accommodated for up to 5 days).  


 


Detainees at Yarl’s Wood who have mental health conditions that meet the criteria for secondary 


mental health care have assessment and treatment facilitated through mental health services 


provided in the centre by G4S.The Government has  pledged to improve access to psychological 


therapies. However, there is currently a lack of evidence-based interventions for detainees who do 


not meet the secondary care symptomatology threshold yet would appear to benefit from 


interventions to aid them cope with current and future life stresses. Unlike people who in the 


community and could access programmes of talking therapies for a range of mild to moderate 


mental health difficulties such as depression, anxiety, phobias and PTSD through IAPT services, 


this stepped care provision is believed to be difficult to implement at Yarl’s Wood due to the very 


                                                           
1
 Porter M, Haslam N. Predisplacement and post displacement factors associated with mental health of 


refugees and internally displaced persons: a meta-analysis. JAMA. 2005; 294(5):602–12. 
2
 Fazel M, Wheeler J, Danesh J. Prevalence of serious mental disorder in 7000 refugees resettled in western 


countries: a systematic review. Lancet. 2005;365(9467):1309–14. 
3
 Gerritsen AAM, Bramsen I, Devillé W, van Willigen LHM, Hovens JE, van der Ploeg HM. Use of health care 


services by Afghan, Iranian, and Somali refugees and asylum seekers living in the Netherlands. Eur J Public 


Health. 2006;16(4):394–9. 
4
 Hermansson A-C, Timpka T, Thyberg M. The long-term impact of torture on the mental health of war-wounded 


refugees: findings and implications for nursing programmes. Scand J Caring Sci. 2003;17(4):317–24. 
5
 Masmas TN, Møller E, Buhmannr C, Bunch V, Jensen JH, Hansen TN et al. Asylum seekers in Denmark: a 


study of health status and grade of traumatization of newly arrived asylum seekers. Torture. 2008;18(2):77–86. 







 


transient nature of the population, literacy and language barriers, as well as the difficulty in the 


emphasis of measuring “recovery” in IAPT programmes. Detainees are at Yarl’s Wood for 


relatively short periods (average length of stay is 50 days) and when they are released this can be 


at very short notice (within hours). 


 


A more flexible approach to improve general psychological well-being and resilience, and 


reducing low level symptoms of mental health associated with depression and anxiety is required. 


Given the very transient nature of the population at Yarl’s Wood emphasis should be given to 


interventions that can be delivered that do not depend on completing a formal course of an 


intervention over a period of weeks. Approaches that could be tailored to this population include 


Mindfulness and Compassion-Focussed Therapy, both of which can be delivered in group as well 


as individually. In addition building a strong emphasis on psychoeducation
6
 would be also 


promoted as well as basic CBT-informed interventions.   


 


2. Outcomes 


 


2.1 NHS Outcomes Framework Domains & Indicators 


 


Domain 1 Preventing people from dying prematurely  


Domain 2 Enhancing quality of life for people with long-term 


conditions 


 


Domain 3 Helping people to recover from episodes of ill-health or 


following injury 


 


Domain 4 Ensuring people have a positive experience of care X 


Domain 5 Treating and caring for people in safe environment and 


protecting them from avoidable harm 


X 


 


2.2 Local defined outcomes 


This is a pilot project designed to explore the efficacy of an innovative approach to supporting 


mental wellbeing in Yarl’s Wood IRC. The provider is required to undertake a full evaluation of the 


service to inform future commissioning. This will be reported on by months 9, 12 and 24 of the 


pilot. 


 


3. Scope 


 


3.1 Aims and objectives of service 


Aim 


• To improve mental wellbeing and personal resilience for detainees held at Yarl’s Wood 
IRC 


Objectives  


• To pilot an approach to maintaining mental wellbeing and building resilience 


• To establish the effectiveness of the service 


• To inform future commissioning  
 


3.2 Service description/care pathway 


 


This service is a primary care service which seeks to support detainees to maintain their mental 


                                                           
6
 The National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) (2006) defines psychoeducation as ‘any 


structured group or individual programme that addresses an illness from a multi-dimensional viewpoint, 


including familial, social, biological and pharmacological perspectives, as well as providing service users and 


carers with information, support and management strategies’ 







 


well-being through self-help. It is not a service for those with a diagnosed mental health problem. 


Detainees are screened at reception for physical and mental health problems by the existing 


provider, and neither the screening nor the triage of detainees is in scope for the mental well- 


being service.  Those detainees who are believed to have a mental health problem will be seen by 


the mental health service which is separately commissioned and provided.  The mental well-being 


service is specifically designed to support detainees who do not have a diagnosed mental health 


problem but could be helped by a service which supports their mental well-being and enables 


them to build their resilience. 


 


Commissioners are seeking an innovative, flexible and evidence-based approach to delivering 


interventions in Yarl’s Wood.  This approach may include (but will not necessarily be limited to) 


Mindfulness and Compassion-Focused Therapy. 


 


Mindfulness is an integrative mind-body approach that can help people manage their thoughts 


and feelings, and change the way they relate to experiences. It is NICE approved and has been 


shown to be effective in preventing episodes of recurrent depression
7
  and to improve resilience in 


times of personal difficulties. Mindfulness techniques improve awareness of emotional experience 


and can help people to feel less overwhelmed by the experience of emotional distress. It has been 


introduced as a therapeutic technique in prisons in the USA and in the UK with improvements to 


hostility levels, self-esteem, and mood disturbance
8
  .  Whilst there are clear benefits of having a 


formal group programme of mindfulness, the approach can be tailored more flexibly which may 


better meet the needs of this population.  


 


Compassion-Focussed Therapy is an approach that looks at improving one’s ability to show self-


warmth, safeness and self-soothing thus addressing an individual’s predisposition to shame and 


self-criticism which are thought to be at the root of a variety of mental health problems including 


depression and anxiety. Compassion-focussed therapy techniques aim to develop compassionate 


attributes and skills and are considered to be a particularly powerful intervention in people who 


have had disruptive or abusive early experiences. The evidence base for this approach is stronger 


for people who are struggling with high levels of self-criticism
9
 and the techniques are considered 


to be amenable to being adjunctive activities for groups looking at improving psychological well-


being.  


 


The service will need to reflect on the needs of the population and will aim to both increase their 


ability to cope with current and future life stresses whilst working within the limitations of detention 


at  Yarl’s Wood provides (namely the short length of stay).  


 


The service will be innovative in its approach to delivering individual and group interventions that 


aim to build the resilience and skills to improve current psychological well-being and future 


psychological resilience. Given the innovative service that is being developed the provider will 


consider their approach to measuring the impact of the interventions delivered focussing on formal 


outcome measures as well as considerations of patient experience and the views of other 


stakeholders (secure staff). A validated tool such as the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale 


(HADS) will be used at the first and last appointment to measure the outcomes for the patient.  


 


The mental well-being service will be accessible to all detainees on referral or on self-referral 


                                                           
7
   Crane C et al, “The effects of amount of home meditation practice in Mindfulness Based Cognitive Therapy 


on hazard of relapse to depression in the Staying Well after Depression Trial”, Behaviour Research and 


Therapy, 2014 
8
 M Samuelson et al, “Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction in Massachusetts Correctional Facilities”, The Prison 


Journal, 2007 
9
 http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25215860 







 


(excluding the detainees in the short term holding facility).  Many detainees do not have English 


as a first language. However, the mental well-being service will be provided in English, with 


interpreting available from either Big Word or another interpreting service as required. The 


provider of the well-being service does not need to include the cost of interpretation of their 


service. For information regarding the likely range of languages spoken by detainees, please refer 


to the HMIP report published August 2015 (p87). 


 


Evaluation: the provider should state how they will evaluate the pilot service. It is acceptable for 


evaluation to be undertaken by a third party although robust governance arrangements must be 


made by the provider to allow this to be put in place. 


 


3.3 Population covered 


 


The capacity of Yarl’s Wood is 410. The majority of the population is the female detained 


population. The mental well-being service is commissioned for all detainees except the detainees 


held in the short term holding facility. 


 


3.4 Any acceptance and exclusion criteria and thresholds 


The short term holding facility is excluded from accessing this service due to the extremely short 


length of stay (average is 5 days).  


 


3.5 Interdependence with other services/providers 


 


The provider will work in collaboration with the healthcare service currently delivered in Yarls’ 


Wood (by G4S). It is imperative that the interface with G4S is strong and supports the delivery of 


the service. The service needs to work as part of a stepped care approach to mental health 


problems e.g. if the intervention highlights problems more significant than previously known a 


pathways is in place to step them up to secondary care services. The provider will demonstrate 


how they are collaborating with G4S and how detainees move (if appropriate) from the 


psychological wellbeing service to the mental health service. 


It is expected that the provider will work closely with all existing services in Yarl’s Wood including 


but not limited to:  


• Serco (Centre Management)  


• Yarl’s Wood Befrienders 


• Other third sector organisations operating in the Centre 


• Education 


• Chaplaincy 
 


4. Applicable Service Standards 


 


4.1 Applicable national standards (eg NICE) 


Not used 


 


4.2 Applicable standards set out in Guidance and/or issued by a competent body (eg 


Royal Colleges)  


Not used 


 


 


4.3 Applicable local standards 


Not used 


 


 







 


5. Applicable quality requirements and CQUIN goals 


 


5.1 Applicable Quality Requirements  
 


Quality Requirement 


 


Threshold Method of 


Measurement 


Consequence of 


breach 


Evaluation report  100% Report delivered to 


commissioners by 


month 9 of the pilot 


 


5 days from referral to 


assessment  


100% Review of monthly 
Service Quality 
Performance Reports   
 


 


Outcome measures 


completed at first 


appointment 


100% Review of monthly 
Service Quality 
Performance Reports   
 


 


Outcome measures 


completed at last 


appointment 


85% Review of monthly 
Service Quality 
Performance Reports   
 


 


Feedback from 


patients 


100% Report delivered to 


commissioners by 


month 9 of the pilot 


 


 
5.2 Applicable CQUIN goals  


not used 
 


 


6. Location of Service Delivery 


 


The  Premises where service must be delivered are located at: 


 


Yarl’s Wood Immigration Removal Centre,  


Twinwoods Business Park 


Thurleigh Road 


Milton Ernest 


Bedford 


MK44 1FD 


 


7. Individual Service User Placement 


 


N/A 
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